1980

Jack H. Ryan and Emma Jean Ryan, Husband and Wife v. J. Elliot Earl : Appellant'S Brief

Utah Supreme Court

ISSUES

1. The evidence fails to establish as a matter of fact and law, a contract between the parties for the sale and purchase of real property.

2. Assuming an oral contract did exist, there was insufficient performance to exempt it from the Utah Statute of Frauds.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

1. J. Elliot Earl, Appellant and hereinafter called Earl, and Anthon B. Haney, Jr., were co-tenants of the subject real property of this action. Each had an undivided one-half interest therein (TR pp 35) and upon which Earl in 1966 had constructed a cinder block building. (TR pp 37-38, 54 and 57)

2. In December, 1977 Respondent, Jack Ryan, hereinafter called Ryan, offered to purchase from Appellant Earl, the subject property for \$55,000.00 (TR pp 108-109) and tendered a check to Earl in the sum of \$5,000.00 (TR pp 39-41, 55, 57, 109) as a "good faith" check. The check was not cashed nor accepted as payment (TR pp 162, 179 and 180).

3. Ryan desired to buy and construct a house on the subject land and persisted in his efforts to purchase it making several offers during the period of July to September, 1977. Earl, however, rejected each offer (TR pp 41, 49-52, 62-63, 84, 220, 228, 231, 234, 243, 245).

4. As a result of Ryan's persistent desire to build a home on the property, Earl suggested and consented to Ryan's purchase of Mr. Haney's one-half interest (TR pp 48-49, 167, 237). Earl also suggested that upon his purchase of the Haney's interest, that Earl and Ryan should enter into a written agreement identify each party's interest in the property and specifying the condition upon which the property would be petitioned or segregated (TR pp 167, 242-248).

5. On September 23, 1977, Ryan purchased Haney's undivided one-half interest in the land for the sum of \$27,500.00 thus becoming a co-tenant with Earl (TR pp 216).

6. On September 30, 1977, Ryan renewed his offer to purchase Earl's one-half interest in the property (TR pp 169-172). Earl did not accept the offer (TR pp 162). However, they conversed about the possibility of purchase and Ryan gave Earl, in exchange for the original check issued July, 1977 (Plaintiff's Exhibit 2) a check in a similar amount of \$5,000.00 dated September 30, 1977 (Plaintiff's Exhibit 3) and asked him to retain the same as a "good faith" check (TR pp 63, 221, 234). Ryan's new offer to purchase was in the sum of \$28,500.00 payable as follows:

\$5,000.00 down, payment of an additional \$12,761.90 in the form of a mortgage payoff which Earl had incurred against the Building on said property, leaving a remaining balance of \$10,738.10.

Ryan was again instructed by Earl that he had no intention of selling his one-half interest in the property; that it was not for sale; but in order to appease him Earl held the check (Plaintiff's Exhibit 3) and placed the same in the desk drawer, but never negotiated it (TR pp 172, 233, 245-246).

7. With neither the knowledge or authorization from Earl, Ryan paid off the mortgage against the subject property on November 15, 1977 (TR pp 231, 240).

8. On or about the 10th day of December, 1977 Ryan issued a check in the amount of \$9,587.01 (Plaintiff's Exhibit 4) made payable to Earl and left the same at Earl's place of business (TR pp 130-131, 232). Earl did not discover the existence of said check for over one year later, in February, 1979 (TR pp 232).

9. The check for \$5,000.00 issued September 30, 1977 (Plaintiff's Exhibit 3) which was given in exchange for the \$5,000.00 check issued July 1977 (Plaintiff's Exhibit 2) was also voided by Ryan (TR pp 172.) See Defendant's Exhibit 27. None of the checks were ever cashed or negotiated, and all were returned to Ryan (TR pp 233, 245-246).

10. Earl never accepted Ryan's offer to purchase and consistently requested that the parties enter into a written agreement defining their respective rights and interests as co-tenants (TR pp 244-245).

11. No written contract now exists or ever was entered into by the parties for the sale or purchase of said property (TR pp 243-244).

12. From January 1978 to January 1979, Earl became aware of improvements made by Ryan to subject property and on numerous occasions requested that the parties enter into a written agreement identifying their respective co-tenant interests (TR pp 237, 243-244).

ARGUMENT AND LAW

PART I: EXISTANCE OF CONTRACT.

1. Respondent Ryan's Complaint alleges the existence of an oral contract for the purchase and sale of Appellant Earl's interest in the subject property. Respondent must prove by clear and convincing evidence, a definite agreement existed between the parties.

It is essential that the parole agreement or gift should be established by clear, unequivocal, and definite testimony, and the facts claimed to be done thereunder should be equally clear and definite and referrable exclusively to the contract or gift. Ravarino v. Price, 123 Utah 559, 26 P2d 570 (1953); See also 73 AmJur 2nd 401. (Emphasis added)

The Plaintiff in declaring specific performance of an oral contract must establish the terms thereof with a greater degree of certainty than is required in an action at law, and he must show a clear mutual understanding and a positive agreement of both parties, to the terms of the contract. Christensen v. Christensen 9 Utah 102, 339 P2d 101 (1959) (citing other Utah authorities, Emphasis added).

2. There is no dispute that Ryan made several offers to purchase Earl's interest in the property. The evidence, however, can only support a finding that all such offers were rejected. There exists no written agreement and Ryan's complaint alleged oral contract which is denied by Earl. It does little good to argue between the parties as to what was said and not said, hence the whole rationale behind the Statute of Frauds. A review of the facts fails to establish any conduct of the parties which could be construed as constituting an acceptance thereby creating a contract. The facts simply state the following:

a) None of the checks issued were ever negotiated. On the contrary, all were returned to the Respondent.

b) Both checks for \$5,000.00 (Plaintiffs' Exhibits 2 and 3) were voided by Ryan and written on insufficient funds account even had the checks been negotiated (TR pp 172, 181-182; Defendant's Exhibit 27).

c) Respondent was at all times aware that the checks were not negotiated and made periodic inquiries as to whether they would be negotiated (TR pp 94, 179-180, 245-256).

d) Appellant Earl paid the taxes on the property each year (TR pp 234-235; Defendant's Exhibit 23).

e) The parties continued to use the premises jointly as co-tenants (TR pp 150, 153, 178, 238-240).

f) No deed or contract of conveyance was ever executed (TR pp 243-244).

g) Earl consistently refused to sell and requested that the parties sign an agreement defining their rights as co-tenants of the property (TR pp 41 49-51, 62-63, 84, 162, 220, 237, 243-245).

3. In viewing the evidence in a light most favorable to the Respondent Ryan, as to the existance of an oral contract for sale of land, all we have is a desire on his part to buy the property; many inquires; the purchase of the co-tenant interest; the leaving of \$5,000.00 "good faith" check; the replacement of thereof by another for the same and three months later; the voiding of both; the unknown delivery of another check (Plaintiff's Exhibit 4) for a thousand dollars less than the alleged contract price (TR pp 232) and the discovery, a year later, of the same; the unauthorized and undiscovered payment of a mortgage; and finally a demand for a deed.

4. Not one fact lends itself to an acceptance by Earl of Ryan's over-bearing and irrational efforts to buy the land. Ryan's acts amount only to his determination to buy the land; his pushing onto Earl unwanted, unnegotiated, and unknown checks; an unauthorized mortgage payoff; and finally more than a year later, a demand for delivery of a deed.

5. The only benefit that could be construed to be consideration given to Earl is the payment of the mortgage

which payment was neither authorized by nor known to Earl.

6. It is encumbant upon Ryan to prove the existance of the alleged oral contract to be firm, definate, certain and unambiguous in order to have specific performance and sufficient performance as to remove it from being barred the Statute of Frauds. Section 25-5-1, Utah Code Annotated (1953 as amended) Hargreaves v. Burton, 59 Utah 575, 206 P 262 (1922). Price v. Lloyd 31 Utah 83, 86 P 767 (1980); Randall v. Tracy Collin Trust Company, 6 Utah 2d 18, 305 P2d 480 (1956); Ravarino v. Price, supra; Christensen v. Christensen supra.

7. The problem of part performance will be discussed in the following section, but before part performance even need be considered, the Respondent needs to prove with clear and convincing evidence the existance of the alleged oral contract, the term of which need be clear, definate, referrable and exclusive. Ravarino v. Price, supra.

8. In the alleged oral contract in question, the Court was shown no evidence except offers unaccepted, checks unaccepted, uncashed, unknown, wrong amount, payments unknown and unauthorized, no closing date, no agreed method of payment, no change in the payment of taxes, and no date of possession, except those coincident with co-tenancy (TR pp 104).

9. The fact that, though Ryan maintains he had an agreement, nowhere in the 255 pages of trial transcript is there clear, definate, unequivocal testimony as to the

terms of the alleged contract. The minimum requirements to establish a contract must be price, dates of payments, closing, and possession, method of performance, and title to be conveyed and all of these by clear and convincing evidence. None of these factors were shown and even if referred to, fell far below the standard required.

PART II: PART PERFORMANCE.

1. Assuming, however, a finding by clear and convincing evidence that an oral contract existed; Ryan as Plaintiff must also prove by clear and unequivocal evidence that he has performed under the contract to the extent that his acts of performance (1) "are clearly referrable to [the] contract existing between the parties in relation to the subject matter in dispute;" and (2) "Plaintiff has been defrauded as a result of such acts." Ravarino v. Price, supra.

As provided in 73 AmJur 2d 400, the doctrine of part performance operates not upon the theory that the part performance is a substitute for the written evidence required by the statute of frauds, but on the theory that the Appellant may be estopped in view of the part performance to assert the statute as a defense. Part performance takes the case out of the statute, not because it furnishes proof of the contract or because it makes the contract any stronger, but because it would be intolerable in equity for the owner of a tract of land knowingly to suffer another to invest time, labor and money in that land

upon good faith of a contract which did not exist.

The conduct of the Respondent Ryan is not performance under the alleged contract, but acts which were reasonably referable to and expected of Respondent as a co-owner of real property.

2. Consider the acts of Respondent Ryan:

a) Payment:

Under the part performance rule, payment by the buyer in whole or in part is not deemed to be sufficient to permit the Court to specifically enforce the oral promise to convey, since he has the quasi-contractual remedy of recovering back what he has paid. Contracts by John D. Calamari and Joseph N. Perillo, West Publishing Company, 1970, pp 465. See also 2 Corbin Section 419; Restatement, contracts (2nd) Section 197, comment c.

Respondent-Ryan alleges that payment was tendered in the form of checks and a mortgage payoff. The evidence overwhelmingly establishes that the checks were not accepted by Appellant Earl and were never negotiated. Additionally, the first check was subsequently voided and the first and second checks (Exhibits 3 and 4) were written on deficit balance accounts. The loan repayment was not contemplated, requested, or authorized by Appellant-Earl. In fact

Appellant-Earl liquidated the mortgage obligation in order to clear title to the land of which he was co-owner, in anticipation of financing his home construction--not to make performance under contract to purchase. The benefit of clear title inures to both parties as co-tenants of the realty.

This Court in Maxfield v. West, 6 Ut 327, 23

P 754 (1890) held that the fact that a part of the purchase

price has not been paid was not itself sufficient in equity to take a parole contract out of the statute of frauds.

b) Possession: While Respondent-Ryan claims exclusive possession of the subject property, no evidence exists to sustain that position. On the contrary, by Respondent's own admission Appellant-Earl was on the premises on "numerous occasions" (TR pp 150, 153). It is also uncontroverted that Appellant continued to use the premises for storage and even now has possessions at the building on the subject property (TR pp 238-240). It is also agreed by the parties that Appellant purchased his interest in the subject property primarily as an investment. His possession has always existed if in no other manner, from his mere holding the same for investment and appreciation.

The law in Utah, as well as most jurisdictions, is well established that since possession of land by a tenant in common inures to the benefit of all co-tenants, such possession under a parole contract of sale from his co-tenants is not a sufficient part performance to take the contract out of the operation of the statute of frauds. Possession by a tenant in common is presumed to be in favor of and for the benefit of his co-tenants and in order for his possession to take an oral contract of sale to him by his co-tenants out of statute, it must show his individual right in the premises to the exclusion of the other co-tenants. (See 73 AmJur 2nd 421).

It is to be noted that possession by the Plaintiff is regarded as an important fact, on which is generally directly referable to the contract, and when combined with permanent and valuable improvements which are representative of the existence of an oral contract, virtually every jurisdiction will grant specific performance. The same limitation of course, if placed on the Plaintiff's possession as is found when improvements are relied upon: It must be of such a nature that it would not have been given without the presence of an oral contract to convey. Ravarion v. Price, supra (Emphasis added)

Appellant submits that Respondent-Ryan's possession was not exclusive but jointly exercised with Appellant. Respondent's possession and installation of improvements is not exclusively referable to the alleged contract, but solely to Respondent's status as a co-tenant.

c) Improvements: It must be remembered that Earl was aware of the persistent and anxious desire of Respondent to build a home on the subject property. With this in mind and because of other pressures exerted upon the Appellant at the time, it was Earl who suggested that Respondent purchase Mr. Haney's one-half interest and that they (Appellant and Respondent) then enter into a written agreement to define property ownership. Appellant did not then, and does not now, object to Ryan's construction of a home: however, the construction of the home as well as all other improvements made by Ryan are not "exclusively referable" to the alleged contract.

The improvements must be of a kind which would naturally and reasonably be done under a contract so as to indicate the existence of a contract to account for them; they must be made on the fact of the contract and must of course be subsequent to it. . .this court must be convinced that no

reasonable doubt exists as to whether or not the acts of improvement are explainable on some basis other than on the hypothesis of an oral contract. The reason for this rule is well established in the common experience of mankind to which the enactment of the statute of frauds bears witness: the possibility of fraud and uncertainty in oral promises to convey realty makes it incumbent upon the court to be hesitant in applying a general acceptance to diverse factual situations, While the fundamental basis of the doctrine of part performance is to prevent fraud, historical precedent has drawn the line where evidentiary facts are not sufficient to show an oral contract was made. Ravarino v. Price, supra (Emphasis added).

Ordinarily the courts hold that activities, improvements and possession by one co-tenant is for the benefit of all co-tenants and not adverse to them. Summary of Utah Real Property Law, Brigham Young University Legal Studies, J. Ruben Clark Law School, Vol. 1, Chapter 3, Section 3.24, pp 125.

The. . .fact that extensive improvements were made while appellant was living on the property are also not inconsistent with co-tenancy. As this Court stated in Sperry v. Tolley, 114 Ut 303, 199 P2d 542 (1948)

. . .It is likewise true that the repairs and improvements made in dwellings buildings and fences are acts normally consistent with a tenancy in common and not adverse to it.

In the instant case the repairs and improvements were such as a person in possession would make for one's own convenience and satisfaction and would not necessarily show an intent to oust co-tenants of their rights or rebut the presumption that they were made for the benefit of all co-tenants.

Heiselt v. Heiselt, 10 Ut. 2nd 126, 249 P2d 178 (1960)

SUMMARY

It is the Respondent in this case who bears the burden of proving by clear and convincing evidence that

(1) an oral contract was created and (2) that sufficient performance or conduct was made on the part of the Respondent which exclusively relates to the alleged contract to exempt it from the effect of the statute of frauds.

It is readily apparent that the evidence before the Court does not support a finding that a contract clearly existed or that there has been performance under such a contract sufficient to obviate the intent and purpose of the Statute of Frauds. Extreme caution is to be exercised in granting such performance unless clearly part performance has occurred.

The doctrine [of part performance] is to be applied with great care paying particular attention to the policy expressed in the Statute of Frauds and the historical precedent where the limits have been defined by process of inclusion and exclusion. Price v. Lloyd, supra

Courts of equity, in establishing the doctrine invoked by Plaintiff, have not, by any means, intended to annul the statute of frauds, but only to prevent its being made the means of perpetrating a fraud. In order that a Plaintiff might be permitted to give evidence of a contract in writing, and which is in the very teeth of the statute and nullity at law, it is essential that he establish [in equity] by clear and positive proof, acts and things done in pursuance and on account thereof, exclusively referable thereto and which take it out of the operation of the statute.

The doctrine, in its broadest scope, is that acts will constitute sufficient part performance if they are clearly referable to some contract existing between the parties in relation to the subject matter in dispute, and as a result of these acts, the Plaintiff has been defrauded. Ravarino v. Price, supra

Appellant submits that no contract was ever entered into. All Respondent's offers were rejected. But Respondent, not to be frustrated, attempted to fabricate a contract in order to obtain Appellant's interest in the property.

Appellant resists Respondent's efforts to unilaterally