1980

Jack H. Ryan and Emma Jean Ryan, Husband and Wife v. J. Elliot Earl : Respondents Brief

Utah Supreme Court

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

ARGUMENT AND LAW

POINT I

AN ORAL OR IMPLIED CONTRACT IS ENFORCEABLE

Contracts are said to be either expressed or implied. Contracts are expressed when their terms are stated by the parties. There are times when contracts may be implied, when the terms are not so stated. Thus, implied contracts is one inferred from the conduct of the parties though not expressed in words. Implied contract in fact are inferred from the facts and circumstances of the case and are not formally or explicitly stated in words. The only difference between an expressed contract and an implied contract is that in the former, the parties have arrived at their agreement by words, whether oral or written, while in the latter, their agreement is arrived at by consideration of their acts and conduct, and that in both of these cases there is in fact a contract existing between the parties. The only difference being the character of the evidence necessary to establish it. In other words, in an expressed contract all of the terms and conditions are expressed between the parties while an implied contract, some one or more of the terms and conditions may be implied from the conduct of the parties. An implied contract between two parties arises when the facts are such that an intent may be

inferred on their part to make a contract. All pertinent circumstances must taken into consideration. (17 AM Jur 2d, Contracts, Section 3, pg. 335)

In 77 Am Jur 2d, pg. 617, it states that "The Purchaser in a contract for sale and purchase of land has several legal and equitable remedies against the vendor when the latter wrongfully fails or refuses to perform his part of the contract to convey to the purchaser the kind of title which he is contracted to convey. If the vendor is able but unwilling or refuses to convey title to the land as contracted to do, the vendee may proceed in equity for specific performance". Respondents are seeking specific performance.

77 Am Jr 2d, Section 113 states that in order for that person to be entitled to specific performance, must show that the contract is fair and equitable and free from any fraud or misrepresentation or overreaching on his part. That the Respondents have done.

POINT II

THE EVIDENCE CLEARLY SUPPORTS THE FINDINGS OF THE LOWER COURT.

IF THERE IS COMPETENT EVIDENCE TO SUPPORT THE JUDGMENT

THE SUPREME COURT ON REVIEW MUST VIEW THE SAME IN THE

LIGHT MOST FAVORABLE TO SUSTAIN THE JUDGMENT

Upon review by the Supreme Court, the Utah Supreme Court has stated the rule as follows:

"On Conflicting matters, evidence on appeal is to be viewed in the light most favorable to the part for whom the Judgment was entered and when so viewed, if there is sufficient competent evidence to support the judgment, it will not be disturbed". (See Christensen vs. Christensen, 339 Pacific 2d 101, 103, Staley vs. Grants, 2 Utah 2d 421, 276 P2d 489. and Erickson vs. Bennison, Utah 503 P2d 141.

In Ervell vs. Salt Lake City Corp. 493 P2d, 1283, 1285, Judge Crocket made the following statement which seems to apply to the Appellant herein when he said:

"In preface to discussion of the various contentions of the appellant Railroads it should be said that they have indulged in the euphoric fallacy so common to losing litigants: a blithe persistence in assuming that the facts are as they desire to see them, rather than as they were seen by the jury. It therefore seems necessary to reiterate the basic rule of review: that we are obliged to survey the evidence, and all reasonable inferences that could fairly be drawn therefrom in the light favorable to the verdict and Judgment".

The Respondent, Ryan, recognizes that an oral agreement must be established by clear, unequivocal and definite evidence, (See Ravill vs. Price, 123 Utah 559, 26 P2d 579. This burden the Plaintiff assumed and proved in this case. The evidence provided in this case is summarized as follows:

1. That prior to July 12, 1977 Jack Ryan, the Plaintiff entered into negotiations with the Defendant, Elliott Earl to purchase the property which is the subject matter of the litigation (TR pp 107-21) and at that time, the Plaintiff thought that the Defendant, Earl, was the sole owner of the said property, (TR pp 108-23). That on or about July 12, 1977, the Plaintiff offered to purchase from Earl, the above described property for the sum of \$55,000.00 and issued a check of down payment in the amount of \$5,000.00, which check was held by the Defendant and never accepted or cashed and was later returned to Plaintiff. (TR p 108)

2. That in subsequent negotiations, the Plaintiff learned that the Defendant, Earl did not own the fee title of the said property but in fact owned a 1/2 interest in the property and the other 1/2 interest was owned by Anthony B. Haynie, Jr. (TR p 109). That at the suggestion of the Defendant, Earl, Mr. Ryan, on or about the 23rd day of September, 1977, negotiated a purchase of Anthony Haynie's 1/2 interest in the property for the sum of \$27,500.00 (TR pp 109-110) and (TR p 125), and received a deed from Mr. Haynie (Exhibits 18 & 19). The Plaintiff informed Mr. Earl that he

had purchased Mr. Haynie's 1/2 interest for \$27,500.00. (TR p 128-5). The Plaintiff, Mr. Ryan then made a new offer on or about September 30, 1977 to Mr. Earl of \$28,500.00 for his 1/2 interest in the property, the same being \$1,000.00 more than paid to Mr. Haynie. (TR pp 128 and 171-18). Mr. Earl said he'd go along with this, and told Ryan to pay off his loan at First Federal Savings (TR p 128). Mr. Ryan gave Mr. Earl a check for down payment of \$5,000.00. (TR pp 128-22). (See also Plaintiff Exhibit No. 3) on which check was written the following:

| | |
|-----------------|-----------------|
| \$28,500.00 | |
| 12,761.90 | Loan |
| <u>5,000.00</u> | |
| \$10,738.00 | Balance on Land |

Plaintiff, Mr. Ryan then proceeded to pay off Earl's loan at First Federal Savings, by making a loan of \$70,000.00 at First Federal, (Plaintiff Exhibit No. 26) and from this loan the Plaintiff paid off Earl's loan of \$12,514.33 on or about November 15, 1977. (Plaintiff Exhibit No. 25)

3. On December 10, 1977, Plaintiff delivered a check for \$9,587.01 (Plaintiff Exhibit 4) plus a paid bill for \$151.09 (Plaintiff Exhibit No. 7) for payment of back water taxes and some work done on Defendant's forklift. This check was

given to Defendants partner, Mr. Hill at Defendant's new place of business. Two days later Defendant, however, told Ryan he had received checks (TR pp 131-25) and looked over the figures and everything seemed alright (TR 131-25)

4. That on or about December 1, 1977, the Plaintiff Ryan, entered into exclusive possession of the above described property (TR pp 66-6, 238-10) and commenced to make valuable improvement on the property to the land and the cinder block building expending \$15,000.00 to \$20,000.00, (TR 157-158) which improvements consisted of the following: Replacing the damaged block in front of the door on the cinder block building, repairing the roof on the cinder block building, rewiring the cinder block building, installing new light fixtures, rain gutters and yard lights on the cinder block building, installing new motor in the furnace in the cinder block building, straightening the overhead doors, installing the new woodburning stove, installing the new bathroom and shower in the shop in the cinder block building, constructing a new butcher shop which is attached to the cinder block building, building of a freezer in the building, leveling of the yard around the shop, filling the holes and building a large sump for drain

water, hiring of a surveyer to fix the property with the neighbor, building a fence and gates on the property lines, hiring a backhoe to dig an irrigation ditch to get the waters from 10th West to the West side of the property, construction of a drain pond with ditches for draining of the land, digging of a new culinary water well and running water lines into the new house and the construction of a new home on the property (TR 157). Mr. Ryan also commenced building a new home on the property and expended \$80,000.00 before he ran out of money to finish the house. (TR 159).

5. Mr. Ryan mistakenly assumed when he paid off the loan at First Federal Savings & Loan that the bank would follow through and get the deed from Earl for him (TR 130-2, See also TR 119-3).

6. Plaintiff paid the property taxes on the property in the Fall of 1978, (Exhibit 9) Defendant a month later paid the taxes on the same property.

7. In early 1979, when Mr. Ryan learned he didn't have the title (TR 144-5) he contacted his attorney and realized that he owed \$1,247.64 additional amount. Plaintiff then purchased cashier checks and delivered them to Defendant (Plaintiff Exhibit No. 8), and demanded a deed which the

Defendant refused and claimed there was no agreement to sell his property.

After reviewing Appellant's Brief, it appears that there is no dispute as to the law that is applicable in this case. The differences are one of fact. The Defendant claims that there is no conduct of the parties that could be constructed as acceptance thereby creating a contract. This is not true. Let us summarize the evidence what this conduct was.

1. At TR 128-6 I asked the question of Mr. Ryan about the formation of the contract on September 30, 1977:

- Q. What did Elliott (Defendant) say?
- A. Well, he says--I don't know just what he said then, but then I told him that I'd like to buy his piece now, so I could have it all in one piece and that I'd give him another thousand dollars for it and he says, "Well, that sounds pretty good." He says that he'd go with that and we would have an agreement on that but that it would be my ground at twenty-eight and that the extra thousand dollars made the difference.
- Q. \$28,500.00; is that correct?
- A. Yes, \$28,500.00 and at that time is when he told me to go up and pay the loan off and get it all straightened around.
- Q. Did you issue a check to Mr. Earl at that time?
- A. I gave him a check for \$5,000.00 and he told me at that time, he say, "I can't cash this now on account of my divorce trouble and the things that I have there so I'll just have to keep it until I find out whether I have to buy a new home or any of these other things. So he says, "I'll just put it

- in the drawer here until such time I can do this."
- Q. Did you ever tell him in any way that he couldn't cash that check?
- A. No. I told him that the check was as good as gold. He could cash it anytime he wanted. It would be the sooner the better for me.
- Q. You gave him the check on September 30, Mr. Ryan, and did you make an effort then to pay off the loan at First Federal Savings?
- A. Yes, I made arrangements to get the money and that there--to pay the loan off. That's when I went up and borrowed the \$70,000.00.

2. In mid December 1977 Defendant told Plaintiff he'd received the check of \$9,587.01 and everything seemed alright and he put it in the drawer because he still didn't know how he was going to come out on his divorce deal. At (TR 131-25) to TR 132-4) Ryan again testified:

- A. Yes, at that time he told me he received the check and looked over the figures and everything and everything seems to be alright, and he put it in the drawer with the other one because he still didn't know just how he was going to come out on his divorce deal and that.

3. The Plaintiffs went into exclusive possession of the property and moved Defendant's stuff from the building without his permission. Defendant Earl testified as follows: (TR 238-7)

- Q. With regard to the situation there, isn't it true that Jack took exclusive possession of the building after he went into possession?
- A. Without permission, yes.
- Q. And he moved all of your stuff out?
- A. Without permission, yes.

4. After Mr. Ryan had taken possession he started making many improvements. At TR 153-17 I asked Mr. Ryan the following:

- Q. In connection with all of these improvements was Mr. Earl down there when you were making these improvements and saw these?
- A. Yes. Like I said, a number of times, one time he come down there for a water tank and a pump and another time he came down to get something out of the station wagon.
- Q. At any of those occasions did he offer to give you your check back and say that he hadn't sold the property to you?
- A. He never mentioned anything about any deal at all. Other than things like it looks like you're really changing the face of this place.
- Q. Did he ever exert any right to possession or assume any rights to possession?
- A. No, he never did. When he wanted to use any of it, it was when he came down with that camper and wanted permission to keep it up there.

5. The Plaintiffs immediately started building a new home on the property and spent up to \$80,000.00 when their money ran out. (TR 159-3) During the construction on the home the Defendant, Mr. Earl, delivered brick for the home. At TR 242-5 Mr. Earl testified as follows:

- Q. But during the course of construction you delivered the brick?
- A. Yes.
- Q. Certainly you knew there was a nice home because it was up to square?
- A. Sure.
- Q. Did you do anything to protect your interest in that half of the property under that home?

- A. I thought that until I had made some kind of a commitment that I was in the driver's seat and it would be up to Jack to come around and take care of those obligations.

6. In the Fall of 1978 almost one year after Plaintiffs took possession the Defendant called Mr. Ryan and asked for permission to put his camper on the property for the winter. Mr. Ryan testified as follows at (TR 155-8):

- A. Well, he phoned up and my wife answered the phone. She called me down there and he asked permission to put his camper out there because he didn't have no place to put it.

7. Defendant never offered to pay for any of the improvements (TR 163-7). Mr. Ryan's testimony:

- Q. Did he ever offer to pay you anything for any of the improvements either to the land or building?
A. No.

8. During cross examination the Defendant stated to Mr. Ryan that he would sell for a fair price, (TR 243-7) Mr. Earl's testimony:

- Q. Isn't it true, in fact, that you told him you would sell that property at a fair price?
A. Yes, I did.
See also (TR 51-8)

The testimony of Plaintiff's two appraisers, Nixon and Balls, and the appraiser of Defendant, Tom Singleton, show that the price offered of \$28,500.00 was more than appraised value. See testimony of Jack Nixon and Lynn Balls and Tom Singleton. (TR 12 Nixon - TR 192 to 196-21 Balls) (TR 203 to 211-15 Singleton).

9. After Plaintiff paid off Earl's loan at First Federal Savings and Loan, Defendant was relieved of making the monthly loan payment of approximately \$157.00 per month and went from November 1977 to the date of trial two years and never paid any monthly payment or interest to Mr. Ryan (TR 64-1).

10. Defendant claims he was after Plaintiff to get an agreement all through these many months. Yet Defendant was in contact with his attorney, Mr. Lanny Gunnell, and never made any effort to get him to make the agreement or do anything to assert any rights to the property. See TR 245-3 to TR 245-15)

11. Defendant received the checks and kept them until the suit was commenced, when he refused to sign a deed. I asked Mr. Ryan the following at (TR 246-13):

Q. But you seemed intent on keeping the checks, didn't you, which you did. You kept the checks?

A. Yes, I kept the checks.

Then at TR 162-5 I asked Mr. Ryan:

Q. Between the time you gave the checks to Mr. Earl and the time you went to get the deed signed, did he ever offer to return the checks to you or give them back to you?

A. No.

Then I asked the following question at TR 162-21:

Q. Did you ever, when you saw him from time to time after you gave the checks to him, did you ask him why he hadn't cashed the checks?

A. Yes, a number of times.

Q. What did he say?

- A. Well, to start with, it was the divorce and then he was going to buy some land and then later on he was going to buy a diesel truck and then he was on that land again.
- Q. At any of those occasions that you talked to him about it, did he ever say he was not going to cash those checks?
- A. No, he never did tell me he wasn't going to cash them.
- Q. Did he ever offer to pay you anything for any of the improvements either to the land or building?
- A. No.

The foregoing evidence clearly supports the court's Finding No. 4 of the Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law.

The trial Court from the evidence made its Finding No. 5 which reads as follows: (File 73-74)

"The Court finds that an oral contract was entered into between the parties was clear, definite and mutually understood and established by clear unequivocal and different testimony or other evidence presented in the above matter. The Court further finds that some of the testimony was disputed, but that such disputed testimony does not bar the finding that the contract was established by the evidence. The Court finds the only dispute in the evidence was that of a conversation of September 30, 1977. Plaintiff testified that a contract was formed, that the reason the Defendant did not deposit the check for \$5,000.00 down payment, was because of the uncertainty of a pending divorce proceeding. The Defendant testified and claims that he was holding the check as "a good faith offer". The Court determines that the testimony of the Plaintiff

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